## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK ANTHONY POOLE, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. : .

Case No.SC05-1770

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAUL C. HELM Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0229687

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

# TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Polk County Grand Jury indicted the appellant, Mark Anthony Poole, on November 1, 2001, for: Count One, the first- degree premeditated murder of Noah Scott by beating him with a tire tool; Count Two, attempted first-degree premeditated or felony murder of Loretta White with the use of a weapon; Count Three, burglary of a dwelling with an assault or battery with the use of a weapon; Count Four, sexual battery of Loretta White with physical force likely to cause serious personal injury; and Count Five, robbery with a deadly weapon. The indictment alleged that each of the offenses occurred between October 12 and 13, 2001. [I R143-147] The State filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty on December 6, 2001. [I R163] The court granted appellant's request to appoint the public defender. [II R321]

Defense counsel filed pretrial motions to bar imposition of a death sentence on the ground that Florida's capital sentencing procedure is unconstitutional under <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). [IV R615-638, 671-690, 697-701] The court denied the motions. [V R880, 893, 896]

Circuit Judge J. Dale Durrance conducted a jury trial on April 11-27, 2005. [VI T1] The jury found appellant guilty as charged on each of the five counts of the indictment. [V R912-916]

Judge Durrance conducted the penalty phase of trial on May 2, 2005. [XXII T2905] The jury unanimously recommended the death penalty. [VI R953]

The State filed a sentencing memorandum on May 26, 2005. [VI R956-957] Defense counsel filed a memorandum in support of a life sentence on July 15, 2005. [VI R959-987] The court conducted a Spencer hearing on July 22, 2005. [VI R988-996] The court conducted a sentencing hearing on August 25, 2005. [VI R997-1020]

The court adjudicated appellant guilty and sentenced him to death for Count One, first-degree premeditated murder, and to consecutive terms of life imprisonment for each of the other four offenses, Counts Two through Five. [VI R1024-1043]

The court's findings on aggravating and mitigating circumstances are set forth at the end of the Statement of the Facts, <u>infra</u>. Defense counsel filed a timely notice of appeal on August 31, 2005, [VI R1044] and the court appointed the public defender to represent appellant on this appeal. [VI R1051]

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## State Evidence

In October 2001, 18-year-old Loretta White lived with her 24- year-old fiancé, Noah Scott, in trailer 4-L at the Orangewood Villa Mobile Home Park in Lakeland. White was pregnant at that time and later gave birth to a healthy baby

boy. [XIX T2400-2402] On Friday, October 12, White and Scott went to bed between 11:30 p.m. and midnight after playing video games. [XIX T2401, 2404, 2443] Scott owned Sega Genesis, Sega Dreamcast, and Super Nintendo game systems connected to the television in the bedroom. [XIX T2438-2439] They slept unclothed on a mattress and box spring set on the floor of their bedroom. Scott's side of the bed was next to the wall. [XIX T2405-2406]

White awoke lying on her back with a pillow over her face. From the bottom of the pillow she saw a black person's arm and Scott lying on the floor at the foot of the bed. [XIX T2406-2408, 2444] A man was on top of White with his penis inside her vagina. [XIX T2410, 2444] She told him repeatedly not to hurt her, that she was pregnant. [XIX T2407, 2409, 2417] Scott kept trying to get up to stop the man, but each time the man hit him in the face with an object, and Scott fell back down. [XIX T2409, 2416-2417, 2445] When Scott tried to help White, he moaned in pain. [XIX T2419] The man was much larger than Scott. White saw only his arm. [XIX T2411, 2444] The man hit both of them repeatedly. [XIX T2412] White thought the man ejaculated inside her, but she was not sure because she kept going in and out of consciousness. [XIX T2412-2413, 2444]

The man rolled her over onto her stomach. He hit the back of her head with a hard object and kept asking her where the money was. She replied that she didn't know, that they

did not have any money. When she tried to turn her head, he stopped her and told her not to look. [XIX T2408-2409] The man left the room after the attack. White got out of bed, put on flannel boxers and a tank top, and then passed out. The man returned. He touched her vaginal area and said, "Thank you." She did not recognize his voice, but he sounded like an older man [XIX T2413-2415, 2418] White had previously heard the

voices of Trevor Campbell and Albert Lewis. Neither of them was the attacker. [XIX T2442-2442]

At times during the night White woke up and pulled Scott's hand. He sat up, she heard him breathe, and then she threw up and passed out again. [XIX T2418] White looked at the clock at 3:30. She thought this was just before or just after the man thanked her. The next thing she knew, her alarm went off at 8:00 or 8:30. [XIX T2413-2414, 2445-2446] White got up and went into the bathroom. She fell while trying to wash her hands. She went to the living room for the cell phone. She collapsed by the bedroom doorway. [XIX T2422-2423]

White called 911 and reported that she did not know whether her fiancé was still alive, there was blood everywhere, she had a head injury, she had been raped, she could not move, and two black men had broken into the trailer. When the operator asked if they had a weapon, White replied, "All I know is one had a belt." [XIX T2423-2433] She remained on the phone until the police and ambulances arrived. [XIX T2433-2437] White told a paramedic that two black people

broke into the trailer. [XIX T2307]

Dr. Ransom Simmons treated White at the emergency room of the hospital. She was suffering from a concussion and did not remember exactly what had happened. [XVIII T2247-2252, 2264-2267] She had multiple severe facial and scalp lacerations to the bone, her skull was fractured, and part of the ring finger of her left hand was missing. [XVIII T2253-2257, 2259-2262, 2266-2274] Her injuries were consistent with a beating with a tire iron. [XVIII T2257] She also suffered acute blood loss. [XVIII T 2257-2258] Her injuries were life threatening; she could have died. [XVIII T2258] A nurse performed a sexual assault examination and found possible semen in her vagina. [XVIII T2261; XIX T2344-2358]

The parties stipulated to the identity of the deceased, Noah Scott. [XVI T1903-1904] Dr. Stephen Nelson, the medical examiner [XIX T2458], went to the scene on October 13. [XIX T2463] He entered the trailer to observe the body at 4:20 p.m. [XXI T2655, 2753-2754] The "nonblanching lividity" of the body indicated that Scott had been dead at least 10 to 12 hours. [XX T2470-2472, 2489-2490] Dr. Nelson conducted the autopsy on October 15. [XIX T2462] He found lacerations and bruises around Scott's eyes and on the top of the head. There were skull fractures on top of the head and at the base of the skull. These injuries were consistent with blows from a tire iron. [XX T2476-2484] Scott suffered at least 13 blows to the head. The cause of death was blunt force head trauma. [XX

T2486]

Mark Poole lived with his girlfriend, Pamela Johnson, in a trailer at 3328 North Florida Avenue. [XX T2525-2528, 2530] On Friday, October 12, Poole left the trailer on foot while it was still daylight. [XX T2528-2530] Johnson locked the door. Poole returned around midnight and knocked on the door, but Johnson refused to let him in. He left again. [XX T2538-2540] Poole returned at 4:50 a.m. [XX T2530] He said he had been helping a lady put a muffler on a car or change a tire. He went to bed. [XX T2531] At 8:32 that morning, Johnson heard sirens. Her son lived nearby. Poole went down the road to check. He returned and said her son was okay, and the ambulance did not go to his house. [XX T2531-2532, 2534] He also told her some man had been killed. [XX T2541-2542] Johnson found a game controller on the front step. She handed it to Poole, and he put it in the nightstand in the bedroom. [XX T2532-2533] Johnson had been telling Poole to move out for two weeks and repeated the demand on Saturday. When she returned from work, Poole was gone and did not return. [XX T2534, 2540] He did not take any of his belongings. [XX T2535] Later on, the police searched the trailer pursuant to a warrant. They took the game controller. [XX T2537]

Dawn Brisendine lived in trailer 4 at the Orangewood Villa Mobile Home Park. [XIX T2310-2311] Dawn Campbell lived next door in trailer 5. Trailer 4-L was behind trailer 5. Stanley Carter lived across the street from Brisendine. [XIX

T2311-2313] Brisendine had met Mark Poole and identified him in court. [XIX T2314-2315] She stepped outside her trailer around 11:30 p.m. on October 12 and saw Poole at the end of Campbell's trailer, walking towards trailer 4-L. [XIX T2316-2317, 2322-2324] The next day, she told the police that she had seen Poole near the trailer. [XIX T2318-2321]

Officer Doris Diaz went to trailer 5-L at the Orangewood Mobile Home Park at 3506 North Florida Avenue at 11:22 p.m. on October 12. She spoke to Dawn Campbell regarding a burglary call that had made earlier in the day. Diaz left the trailer at 11:30 p.m. [XVIII T2153, 2155-2157, 2160-2161]

Officers Diaz and Michael Hammersla responded to a suspicious person call at the Orangewood Mobile Home Park at 11:55 p.m. on October 12. Diaz said they first went to trailer 3-L, but Hammersla could not recall going to 3-L. [XVIII T2157-2159, 2161-2162, 2165, 2167-2168, 2170] The man at 3-L said he saw a black male walking between the trailers while Diaz was at trailer 5-L. [XVIII T2163] Diaz and Hammersla drove around the trailer park and encountered Stanley Carter at 113 Glenwood Drive, across the street from the trailer park. [XVIII T2163-2164, 2168-2169, 2171, 2180-2181] Carter told them he saw a black male coming out of the trailer park. The man was about six feet tall and wore a plaid shirt and dark shorts. [XVIII T 2168]

Carter testified that he drove past trailer 3-L around 10:30 p.m. and saw a man walking away from the front door.

[XVIII T2182-2184, 2198, 2200] Carter turned his car around and saw the man looking behind trailer 4-L. [XVIII T2183-2185] Carter left the trailer park. He returned home around 11:30 p.m. and saw a police cruiser turn in and park near a church. [XVIII T2186-2188] Carter began looking around the trailer park and saw a black male in dark clothing and shorts looking around at the trailers. [XVIII T2190-2191, 2200, 2202-2203] He thought it was probably the same man he had seen earlier because the clothes seemed to be the same. [XVIII T2203-2204] The man was about six feet tall and weighed about 200 pounds. [XVIII T2204] The man went past Carter's house and then went past trailer 1, the trailer park office, and a camper RV around 11:45 to 11:50. Carter called the police to report a prowler. [XVIII T2191-2195] Two cruisers came, and Carter spoke to Officer Hammersla. [XVIII T 2196]

Officer Diaz spoke to Dawn Campbell again, and then walked around the trailer park. She did not see anything suspicious, so she left at 12:11 a.m. [XVIII T2164-2165, 2169] Hammersla drove around the trailer park and left at 12:20 p.m. [XVIII T 2171-2172] Hammersla returned to the trailer

park at 1:27 a.m. and parked beside trailer 3-L. He left at 2:32 a.m. [XVIII T 2172-2173]

Ventura Rico lived in a trailer park just off of North Florida Avenue. On the night of October 12, his friend Melissa Nixon was visiting him. [XVIII T2211-2214; XX T2594-2595, 2604] Rico and Nixon were on his front porch around

midnight or 12:30 a.m. when a black man walked up and sold Rico some video games in a plastic bag for \$50. The man left after making the sale. [XVIII T2213-2216, 2224-2226; XX T2595-2596, 2604-2610, 2618] Nixon's son opened the plastic bag the next morning and found blood on the games. [XVIII T2215-2216, 2218, 2226-2227; XX T2597, 2612] Rico gave Nixon's son one of the games, and Nixon put it in the trunk of her car. [XVIII T2219, 2227; XX T2598, 2612]

Crime scene technicians processed White's trailer beginning on October 13 and found a shoeprint on a vinyl notebook near Scott's feet. [XVI T1904-1906; XVII T1913, 1923, 2050-2052, 2094-2095; XVIII T2096] They found a locked safe on the bedroom floor. [XVII T2091-2093, 2103-2104]

Detective Bradley Grice spoke to White at the hospital on October 13. She could not identify the man who attacked her. [XX T2619, 2626-2627] Grice spoke to Dawn Brisendine and Stan Carter at the mobile home park. [XX T2630] Another detective found Mark Poole at his residence. Poole agreed to go to the police department. He was not arrested, but he was handcuffed. Grice spoke to Poole shortly after 5:30 p.m. [XX T2636-2637] Poole consented to a search of his residence and signed a consent form. [XX T2639-2640] Poole also consented to give the police a DNA sample. [XX T2641] Grice and Sgt. Charles Smith took Poole back to his trailer to conduct the search. [XIX T2363-2366; XX T2637, 2641] Poole allowed the officers to take a pair of his shoes and a blue shirt. [XIX

T2367; XX T2645-2646]

Karen Gaugh was Noah Scott's aunt. A few days after Scott was killed, her boyfriend's daughter told her that one of her friends said a black man came to her house with a video game system with blood on it. Gaugh reported this to Detective Grice. [XIX T 2332-2335]

On October 17, Officer Alex Gomez went to Rico's trailer at 3345 North Florida Avenue, Lot No. 1, and asked about the video games. Rico and Nixon gave him the games, which were in three plastic bags that he did not open. Two black bags were recovered from the trailer, and one white bag was recovered from the trunk of Nixon's car. [XVIII T2216-2217; XIX T2335-2343; XX T2598-2599, 2601, 2613] When a crime scene technician opened the plastic bags to process the games for fingerprints, she found a small child's belt in one of the black bags. [XVIII T2146-2147]

Detective Grice showed a photo pack to Rico and Nixon. [XVIII T2218; XX T2619-2620] Rico could not make a positive identification; he chose two photos, Mark Poole and another man, and said one of them could have been the man who sold him the video games. [XVIII T2228-2229; XX T2650] Nixon identified a photo of Mark Poole. [XX T2600, 2614, 2620-2623] Trevor Campbell was included in the photo pack. [XX T2622]

Sgt. Smith and Detective Grice knew that Albert Lewis, Trevor Campbell, and Dawn Campbell were arrested for drugs at the Orangewood mobile home park on Wednesday night prior to

the murder. [XIX T2371-2373; XXI T2652] Noah Scott's mother told another detective that people in the park had a beef with Scott because of the arrests. [XXI T2652-2653] Smith and Grice determined that Mrs. Campbell was released on Thursday, Mr. Campbell was released Friday evening, and Lewis was released from the jail around 3:00 or 4:00 a.m. on October 13. [XIX T2373-2374; XX T2649]

On October 19, a police officer found a tire iron underneath a motor home at the Orangewood mobile home park. [XVIII T2118-2123; XIX T2395-2399] The tire iron was covered in blood and hair and was sent to FDLE for DNA testing. The crime scene technician did not attempt to find any fingerprints on the tire iron due to its rough surface and to avoid disturbing the blood and hair. [XVIII T2147-2149] FDLE Analyst Susan Komar, a tool mark identification expert, examined the tire iron and pry marks on the safe found in White's bedroom. [XX T2584, 2587, 2589] She determined that the tire iron, and no other tool, made the pry mark on the upper corner of the safe. [XX T2591]

On October 23, Detective Grice obtained an arrest warrant for Poole. [XX 2647] Detective Ivan Navarro found Poole in Orlando on November 6 and arrested him pursuant to the warrant. [XX T2550, 2555, 2559-2560] Navarro raised Poole's shirt to determine that he had tattoos that Pamela Johnson had described. [XX T2559-2560]

Dena Weiss, a fingerprint examiner for the Lakeland

Police, examined a total of 55 latent prints submitted by the officers investigating this case. [XX T2566-2569] She determined that 22 of the prints were of value for comparison to the known prints of Noah Scott, Loretta White, and Mark Poole. She identified 11 of the latent prints as those of Scott or White. [XX T2568-2569, 2573] None of the prints were made by Poole. [XX T2573, 2582-2583]

Mary Bryrie, an FDLE footwear examiner, determined that one shoeprint found on the vinyl notebook was positively made by Poole's left shoe. Another shoeprint on the notebook could have been made by Poole's left shoe. [XX T2496-2523]

Robyn Ragsdale, an FDLE DNA expert [XXI T2656-2659], determined that the vaginal swab from the rape kit contained epithelial (skin) cells from the vaginal canal with a DNA profile that matched the DNA profile of a known sample of Loretta White's blood at all 13 loci. [XXI T2685-2689] The sperm from the vaginal swab contained a mixture of White's DNA and male DNA. The male DNA matched Mark Poole's known DNA sample at 8 STR loci and at amelogenin. Poole was not excluded at the other loci. The frequency of this match was one in 350 trillion Caucasians, one in 84 trillion African-Americans, and one in 550 trillion Southeastern Hispanics. [XXI T2697-2702, 2710]

Ragsdale tested six stains from Poole's blue polo shirt. [XXI T2707-2709] Stain 4C from the shirt matched White's profile at 7 STR loci and at amelogenin, the sex

determination. The frequency of this match was one in 7.4 million Caucasians, one in 40 million African-Americans, and one in 9.3 million Southeastern Hispanics. [XXI T2689-2690, 2708-2709] Stain 4A contained a partial male profile, but it did not match the profiles of either Poole or Noah Scott. [XXI T2707-2708] Stains 4B, 4D, 4E, and 4F contained either no DNA or insufficient DNA for testing. [XXI T2708-2709]

Swabs of possible bloodstains on Scott's video games matched Scott's profile at 11 STR loci and at amelogenin. The frequency of this match was one in 1.6 trillion Caucasians, one in 50 trillion African-Americans, and one in 1.7 trillion Southeastern Hispanics. [XXI T2691-2694, 2792]

Ragsdale tested three stains from the tire iron. Stain 2C contained a mixture of DNA. She could not determine the profile of the minor contributor. The profile of the major contributor matched Scott at 5 STR loci and amelogenin. The frequency of this match was one in 21 thousand Caucasians, one in 134 thousand African-Americans, and one in 11 thousand Southeastern Hispanics. [XXI T2694-2697, 2713-2714] She did not obtain any DNA result from stain 2A. From 2B she obtained a partial profile of a mixture from which she could not exclude Scott or White as possible contributors. [XXI T2714]

Ragsdale did not find any DNA in White's fingernail scrapings that was consistent with Poole. [XXI T2711] Ragsdale found possible blood on Poole's shoe, but did not obtain any DNA results. [XXI T2714-2715] Multiple stains on

Poole's jeans were consistent with Poole's profile. [XXI T2715]

### Defense Evidence

Mark Poole chose to exercise his right to remain silent and declined to testify. [XXI T 2724-2727]

Dawn Campbell lived in the Orangewood Village Mobile Home Park in October 2001. [XXI T2744-2745] She was arrested on drug charges on the Wednesday night preceding the murder along with Albert Lewis and her husband, Trevor Campbell. [XXI T2746] Mrs. Campbell was released Thursday evening. When she returned home, she discovered that her trailer had been burglarized. She called the police to report the burglary. Friday evening, Mrs. Campbell called the police with additional information. Officer Diaz came to her trailer to talk to her. [XXI T2747-2748] Trevor Campbell was released from jail Friday night. A friend picked him up and drove him home. They arrived around midnight. [XXI T2748-2749] Mr. and Mrs. Campbell had an argument. Trevor went to sleep in the back bedroom. Dawn fell asleep on the sofa in the living On Saturday they went to the Lakeland Police room. Department. Dawn gave a recorded statement to Detective Grice in which she said Trevor woke her up between 3:00 and 4:00 p.m. Saturday morning. [XXI T2750-2751]

### Closing Argument

In closing argument, defense counsel conceded that Poole

acknowledged he was guilty of burglary, sexual battery, and robbery, but Poole denied that he inflicted the severe injuries on Loretta White and killed Noah Scott. [XXI T2795] Defense counsel argued that the investigators ignored evidence that two people were involved in the crimes committed against White and Scott because it did not fit their theory that Poole was solely responsible. He argued that there was evidence suggesting White's next-door neighbor, Trevor Campbell, had a motive and opportunity to enter the trailer and attack Scott and White after Poole had departed to sell the video games. [XXI T2795-2824]

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