IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK ANTHONY POOLE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE No. SC05-1770

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Florida cases dealing with this subject also seem to follow the general rule. In the early case of <u>Cook v. State</u>, 46 Fla. 20, 35 So. 665 (1903), the Florida Supreme Court held that a character witness may be cross-examined regarding specific facts in order to test the soundness of the witness' opinion and to elicit the data upon which it was founded. In <u>Cornelius v. State</u>, 49 So.2d 332 (Fla.1950), the Florida Supreme Court held that a witness who testifies to the general reputation or character of a defendant may be cross-examined as to whether he had heard of specific acts of violence

". . . because the true purpose of such cross-examination is to enlighten the jury as to whether the witness actually - as a matter of fact - knows the general reputation of the defendant and to place the jury in a better position to pass upon the credibility of the witness' testimony." 49 So.2d at 335.

Based upon this record, it can be argued the prosecutor was entitled to elicit the details of his prior arrests and convictions. However, after inquiry by the trial court, the prosecutor agreed not "to go into any details of any particular crimes." (XXIII, 3188). When the prosecutor continued questioning Poole, Jr., he did not ask the same question regarding his knowledge of appellant's arrests in three states. Consequently, the witness never actually answered the question which was the subject of the defense objection. (XXIII, 3189). When the prosecutor continued, he asked Poole, Jr., when appellant began getting into trouble with the law. (XXIII, 3189). Poole, Jr. answered that he was aware appellant began getting into trouble with the law.

Under the circumstances of this case, the trial court did not abuse its broad discretion in allowing the prosecutor to briefly explore Poole, Jr.'s knowledge of appellant's prior arrests. Like the situation in <u>Greenfield</u>, the defense opened the door to this line of inquiry. <u>See Gunsby v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 1085, 1089 (Fla. 1991)(The trial court did not commit error in allowing cross-examination of a witness's knowledge of the defendant carrying guns. Given "the fact that this was impeachment of a defense character witness, examining the witness about a specific act of misconduct by Gunsby that was

known by the witness was proper cross-examination and was not a violation of the Williams rule.").

Appellant also contends that the question was improper because the prosecutor insinuated impeaching facts "without evidence to back up those facts." (Appellant's Brief at 44-45). However, appellant did not object to the question below on this basis. It has long been the law in this state that "in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below.". Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Consequently, this particular argument has not been preserved for appeal. See Blackwood v. State, 946 So. 2d 960, 967 (Fla. 2006)(defendant "failed to present the trial court with an opportunity to rule upon the specific arguments now raised and the claim is therefore procedurally barred.")(citing Steinhorst).

Of course, had defense counsel lodged a specific objection below, the prosecutor could have provided the factual predicate for his question regarding the defendant's arrests. It is unfair to make such an argument for the first time on appeal because the state has no opportunity at this late date to place the factual basis for the question on the record. Indeed, it appears the prosecutor had ample support for his question. As

noted by the trial court in its sentencing order, appellant's history of criminal activities "range from Texas to Louisiana, to Mississippi, to Georgia, to South Carolina, and to Florida." (VI, 1028). Moreover, Dr. Kremper, appellant's mental health expert, acknowledged that appellant had a history of arrests and committing offenses. (XXIV, 3295; 3339; 3385; 3386). Thus, appellant's unpreserved allegation that the prosecutor did not have a factual basis for the question is clearly without merit.

In any case, even if the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the prosecutor to ask a general question about appellant's prior arrests, the error was harmless in this case. The witness never answered the question posed by the prosecutor regarding his knowledge that appellant had been arrested in three different states. Moreover, the fact appellant had been in trouble or arrested was entirely cumulative to that elicited by defense counsel through his mental health expert Dr. Kremper. On direct examination, Dr. Kremper revealed that appellant was "known as a B and E guy" (XXIV, 3295), that in Florida this "guy is doing lots of burglaries and this kind of stuff." 3338). On cross-examination, Dr. Kremper revealed, without objection, appellant has had "brushes with the law," been "arrested" for various things, and involved in a "lot of breaking and entering." (XXIV, 3385; 3386). Finally, the

prosecutor did not mention appellant's previous arrests in his closing argument. Zack v. State, 911 So. 2d 1190, 1209 (Fla. 2005)(finding mention of the defendant's hatred of women through its rebuttal witness was proper but, if error, was harmless where the prosecutor did not argue the issue in closing and the jury was properly instructed on the aggravating circumstances that they may consider). Consequently, any error in questioning Poole, Jr. about his brother's previous arrests was clearly harmless under the facts of this case. See Mendoza v. State, 700 So. 2d 670, 678 (Fla. 1997)("erroneously admitted evidence concerning a defendant's character in the penalty phase is subject to a harmless error review under State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)").

Appellant next contends that the trial court erred in overruling his motion for mistrial when the prosecutor questioned Poole, Jr. about his knowledge of appellant's tattoos. Appellant contends that a single question regarding a "Thug" tattoo was so prejudicial, that it warranted a mistrial in the penalty phase. Once again, the State disagrees.

"A motion for mistrial should be granted only when it is necessary to ensure that the defendant receives a fair trial.

See Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 547 (Fla. 1999). This Court has held that a trial court's ruling on a motion for

mistrial is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. Id. at 546." Schoenwetter v. State, 931 So. 2d 857, 872 (Fla. 2006). The prosecutor's question regarding appellant's "Thug" tattoo was proper cross-examination and certainly did not warrant the drastic remedy of a mistrial in this case.

The prosecutor asserted his question was meant to test Poole, Jr.'s knowledge of his brother and rebut the image the defense was attempting to portray of the defendant:

Well, Ms. Jester can do what she sees fit, but they're the one trying to paint this man as an angel after this brutal murder. This guy has got A Thug Life tattooed all across his belly. And I think when you talk about somebody, he's up here telling how good a guy he is, he's a professional, he's a good concrete person, he's a compassionate man, he raised his son and all of this stuff, well, there's another side to this man.

They want - - they chose to put this on, they were going to do the same thing with the psychologist. You can't have it both ways. You are going to put on and try to paint this picture, then it's going to get painted the opposite way if I can do it."

(XXIII, 3202).

Again, the defense was trying to portray the defendant as a stellar character, kind, smart businessman, for whom the instant crime was completely out of character. Certainly, a "Thug Life" tattoo across his belly tends to counter the defense portrayal. This line of questioning properly tested how close Poole, Jr. was to the appellant and suggests that appellant might have

another side to his character, a side of which his brother was unaware. Consequently, the trial court did not abuse its broad discretion in overruling defense counsel's objection. See Brooks v. State, 918 So. 2d 181, 188 (Fla. 2005)(A trial court's admission of evidence will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion.").

In any case, the defendant's brother claimed to have knowledge of only one tattoo on his brother, one that states "MP." He denied any knowledge of a "Thug Life" tattoo. (XXIII, 3204). Under the circumstances of this case, the trial court was under no obligation to grant the appellant's motion for mistrial based upon a single question about appellant's tattoos. It was simply not so prejudicial that it served to vitiate the entire penalty phase in this case. The question was at the very least unanswered and the prosecutor never again broached the subject, either in examining the remaining witnesses or in closing argument.

Appellant finally contends that the prosecutor impermissibly questioned his character witnesses on lack of remorse. However, not a single question from the prosecutor on remorse drew an objection from the defense. Indeed, remorse or lack thereof, was mentioned in the testimony of the very first defense witness in the penalty phase, appellant's mother. On

direct examination, when defense counsel asked if appellant "ever apologize" to her on the phone from prison, Ms. Poole responded: "Well, he just told me - - you know, that he was sorry for anything that he'd done to hurt me - - because he know I wanted him to finish at least high school." (XXIII, 3018). On cross-examination, the prosecutor made the following inquiry:

- Q. Okay. The last area, or next to last area that Ms. Jester covered with you, was she asked you did Mark apologize. And you said he apologized for what he had done to you by his actions. Did I understand you correctly when you said that?
 - A. Yes.
 - Q. Did he ever apologize for murdering a boy?
 - A. No.
- Q. Did he ever apologize for raping a pregnant girl?
 - A. No.

(XXIII, 3028). There was no objection from the defense.⁵ Certainly, the prosecutor was entitled to explore on cross-examination the issue of appellant's apology and whether it extended to harming the victims' in this case.

The second witness, appellant's sister, testified on cross-examination that she has seen appellant in jail but that he did not express remorse for killing this young man. (XXIII, 3071-

⁵ On redirect, defense counsel attempted to show that appellant had little opportunity while incarcerated to talk freely about the instant charges. (XXIII, 3029). Upon questioning by defense counsel, Ms. Poole stated that it was her understanding that appellant was told not to talk about the charges by his defense attorneys. (XXIII, 3029). Indeed, defense counsel interjected: "I mean, when I came to see you, didn't I ask you not to talk about the charges if he called?" (XXIII, 3029).

72). Later, when asked if appellant ever stated he was sorry for what he had done, his sister stated: "No. We didn't talk about it, no." (XXIII, 3074). Again, these questions did not draw an objection from the defense.

Similarly, Arry Moody, the defendant's nephew, testified on cross-examination that he had a chance to talk to appellant at the jail but that appellant did not express remorse for killing the young man or raping the pregnant girl. (XXIII, 3091). Once again, this question and answer did not elicit an objection from the defense. (XXIII, 3091).

After the penalty phase reconvened the next day, defense counsel addressed the court, and stated, in part: "We are not going to be raising remorse as a mitigator, and it isn't proper for him to be asking questions at this point, given that we are not asking for remorse as a mitigator." (XXIII, 3106). Defense counsel stated that he spoke to the appellant about this and "he is in agreement that we would ask that Mr. Aguero not ask any more questions pertaining to remorse, and certainly that he's not making any sort of argument as to remorse in closing." (XXIII, 3106). In response, the prosecutor noted that the

⁶ Again, defense counsel on redirect minimized the opportunity that appellant had in prison to express his remorse. Arry Moody testified that they did not talk about the charges and just talked about old times and told him about the good things that had been happening. (XXIII, 3098).

defense was free to object to his questions when he asked them on cross-examination and did not know whether either Poole or the very last witness would come in and say "Mark told me he was sorry for everything he'd done and so forth." (XXIII, 3107). However, the prosecutor continued that based upon Mr. Fisher's [one of appellant's three appointed attorneys] representation as an officer of the court that he is not going to argue remorse or present a witness on remorse, he would refrain from asking any further questions on that issue. The prosecutor concluded: "so I think both sides are in agreement, so long as representation [of] Mr. Fisher holds true, and that doesn't come up at all in their case." (XXIII, 3107-08).

Appellant incredibly asserts that this Court should forgive the lack of an objection below on remorse because when the issue was finally raised by defense counsel, the trial court displayed a "lack of concern." Appellant speculates that any prior objection would have been "fruitless." (Appellant's Brief at 50). Appellant completely misconstrues the record. It was the

The prosecutor was clearly under the impression that the defense either had or would be arguing remorse or rehabilitation during the penalty phase. See <u>Singleton v. State</u>, 783 So. 2d 970, 978 (Fla. 2001) (holding "that lack of remorse is admissible to rebut evidence of remorse or other mitigation such as rehabilitation").

defense which showed a lack of concern and, indeed, never lodged an objection to a single question of any witness on remorse.⁸

When the defense did raise the issue it was not by an objection, but simply in the form of a concern or discussion. Significantly, the defense failed to request any remedy other than to ask the prosecutor not to raise the issue with any further witnesses. If the trial court expressed any lack of concern on this issue, it is because the defense showed a lack of concern. The trial court accurately summed up the colloquy between the prosecutor and defense counsel below: "Okay. Sounds like y'all talked your way into a stipulation." (XXIII, 3108).

It appears that the defense was considering presenting evidence of remorse and even discussed that matter with appellant prior to finally raising the issue with the trial court. Even when one of appellant's three defense attorneys raised the issue, he again had to consult with the defense team to make sure that they all agreed on this strategy. When the prosecutor agreed to stop questioning witnesses on remorse based upon defense counsel's assertion that they would not raise it, defense counsel Fisher stated: "And let me just confirm with

⁸ Arry Moody had already been excused from testifying and the defense only raised this issue with the trial court and prosecutor the next morning.

Ms. Jester, who has shepherded through the lay witnesses in this case that we're not going to be presenting evidence regarding that." (XXIII, 3108).

Although the defense never raised a contemporaneous objection to questions on remorse, the record demonstrates the efficacy of the contemporaneous objection rule. When the defense finally raised the issue, the prosecutor agreed not to question any witnesses on lack of remorse or argue the issue in closing. See Card, 803 So.2d at 622 ("A timely objection allows the trial court an opportunity to give a curative instruction or to admonish counsel for making an improper argument.")(citing Nixon v. State, 572 So.2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1990)). Thus, had the defense expressed a concern or even objected to the first question on remorse, it appears the issue could have been averted altogether.

Of course, since the issue was not preserved, appellant bears the burden of establishing fundamental error in order to obtain relief on appeal. This high hurdle cannot be overcome in a case with such weighty aggravation and comparably insignificant mitigation. Indeed, appellant does not even attempt to meet his burden of demonstrating fundamental error in this case with a 12 to 0 jury recommendation.

Perhaps recognizing the futility of showing fundamental error based upon this record, appellant attempts to bundle this unpreserved claim with the issues raised about arrests and tattoos. While the state contends that each issue should be individually assessed, even if this court were to view the three issues raised together, it is clear that no relief is warranted.

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